ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from McCormick County

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

NOV 13 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JOE ROSS WORLEY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001497

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN H. STROM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

WANDA H. CARTER  
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

### I.

The trial court committed an error of law by ruling that Appellant was not entitled to immunity from prosecution for assault and battery with intent to kill under the Protection of Persons and Property Act because Robert Rushton was a law enforcement officer, within the meaning of the Act, where (A) Rushton's appointment as a Sheriff's Deputy was never approved by the circuit court as required under § 23-13-10; (B) where Rushton admitted that he had never taken the statutory oath required of sheriff's deputies prior to the commencement of their duties and where the State failed to present any evidence that a bond or surety was on file with the McCormick County Clerk of Court as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 23-13-20; and (C) Rushton was not certified by the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy at the time of the incident.

### II.

The trial court committed an error of law by ruling that Appellant was not entitled to immunity from prosecution for assault and battery with intent to kill under the Protection of Persons and Property Act because (A) Appellant had failed to prove entry or attempted entry into his dwelling and (B) Appellant had failed to prove that he was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty.

### III.

The trial court reversibly erred in refusing to grant a mistrial when, in closing argument, the solicitor repeatedly asked jurors "Who said there was a fox out there?" and later stated "When the officers get out there -- now, how can a man, in 20, 25 minutes, calm down from cussing and yelling and shooting, come in and get undressed and go fast asleep? I don't know because there ain't no testimony to that" as these statements constituted improper comments on the Appellant's right not to testify and impermissibly shifted the State's burden of proof to Appellant.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 22, 2010, the McCormick County grand jury indicted Appellant for three counts of assault and battery with intent to kill and one count of possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime.

Appellant sought immunity from prosecution under the Protection of Persons and Property Act. On May 31, 2011 and June 1, 2011, a “Stand Your Ground” hearing was held before the Honorable William P. Keesley. Solicitor Donald V. Myers, Assistant Solicitor Ervin J. Maye and Assistant Solicitor H. Franklin Young represented the State. Carson M. Henderson and Billy J. Garrett represented Appellant.

On July 5, 2011, Judge Keelsey denied Appellant immunity in a written order.<sup>1</sup> Appellant moved for reconsideration of the order. On December 8, 2011, Judge Keesley issued an order affirming the denial of immunity.

Pursuant to then-existing procedures Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. *See State v. Duncan*, 405 S.C. 177, 747 S.E.2d 677 (2013). In preparation for the appeal, Appellant ordered transcripts from Court Reporter Rema Thomas. Thomas informed Appellant that several tapes containing testimony and arguments from Appellant’s immunity hearing were stolen during a car break in and, thus, were unable to be transcribed.

Despite large portions of the immunity hearing testimony being unavailable, Appellant filed an Initial Brief and Designation of Matter on April 18, 2012. In the brief, defense counsel attempted to reconstruct the missing portions of Appellant’s testimony based upon the notes and recollection of trial counsel.

---

<sup>1</sup> The order was first issued on June 24, 2011, but later amended to correct scrivener’s errors.

On August 20, 2012, the State filed a Motion to Strike and Require Filing of Amended Initial Brief of Appellant. Appellant filed a return opposing the State's motion and the State filed a reply to Appellant's return. On September 7, 2012, Appellant filed a Motion to Supplement Record on Appeal and Expedite Briefing. The State filed a return opposing the motion and Appellant filed a reply to the State's return.

On December 19, 2012, this Court issued an order granting the State's motion to strike and denying Appellant's motion to supplement the record and expedite briefing. Accordingly, Appellant filed an Amended Initial Brief of Appellant and Amended Designation of Matter on January 8, 2013 conceding that the missing testimony was critical to a "full and fair consideration of the matters" on appeal and that the portion of the record remaining was insufficient to allow for meaningful review.

On February 7, 2013, the State filed a Motion to Remand for Reconstruction of the Record and Motion to Strike Improperly-Designated Matter from Amended Designation of Matter. On February 15, 2013, Appellant filed a Reply to the State's motion to remand. On March 6, 2013, Appellant filed a motion to remand to the circuit court for a *de novo* hearing.

On March 28, 2013, this Court granted the State's motion to remand for reconstruction of the missing portions of the hearing transcript. In the same order, this Court also denied Appellant's motion for remand for a *de novo* hearing on the issue of immunity.

On June 14, 2013, a reconstruction hearing was held before Judge Keesley. Solicitor Donald V. Myers, Assistant Solicitor Ervin J. Maye and Assistant Solicitor H. Franklin Young represented the State. Desa A. Ballard, Carson M. Henderson, and Billy J. Garrett represented Appellant.

On August 21, 2013, while the motion for reconstruction was still under consideration by Judge Keesley, the South Carolina Supreme Court issued its decision in *State v. Isaac*, 405 S.C. 177, 747 S.E.2d 677 (2013), holding that the denial of a defendant's request for immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act is not subject to immediate appeal.

That same day, this Court issued an order rescinding the remand to Judge Keesley and dismissing Appellant's appeal. Judge Keesley never determined whether the missing portions of the immunity hearing record could be adequately reconstructed. This Court instructed the parties to "proffer to the court any testimony relevant to the immunity motion that is not presented to the jury." Appellant's motion for reconsideration was denied. R. 795 - 796.

On November 20, 2013, Appellant filed a petition for writ of certiorari with the Supreme Court seeking to reinstate the reconstruction. The petition was still pending when Appellant proceeded to trial. On May 7, 2014, the State filed a motion to dismiss Appellant's petition for writ of certiorari. On June 25, 2014, the South Carolina Supreme Court issued an ordering denying Appellant's petition for a writ of certiorari and denying the State's motion as moot.

On December 16-20, 2013, Appellant proceeded to trial on one count of assault and battery with intent to kill and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh and jury. R. 797. Solicitor Donald V. Myers, Assistant Solicitor Ervin J. Maye and Assistant Solicitor H. Franklin Young represented the State. Desa A. Ballard, Carson M. Henderson, and Billy J. Garrett represented Appellant.

Appellant was convicted on both charges. *Id.* at p. 1638, l. 21 – 1639, l. 8. On June 30, 2014, Appellant was sentenced by Judge Macintosh to a combined sentence of twenty years imprisonment. R. 1795, l. 24 – 1797, l. 6.

On May 4, 2016, Appellant filed a motion to hold Appellant's appeal in abeyance and motion to remand for reconstruction of the pretrial immunity hearing. This Court remanded the case to Judge Keesley for reconstruction. R. 1799 – 1807.

Judge Keesley convened a reconstruction hearing on October 25, 2016. R. 1810. On December 30, 2016, Judge Keesley submitted his report to this Court regarding the reconstruction. R. 1847 - 1860. On January 27, 2017 this Court ended the abeyance and remand. This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENTS

### I.

**The trial court committed an error of law by ruling that Appellant was not entitled to immunity from prosecution for assault and battery with intent to kill under the Protection of Persons and Property Act because Robert Rushton was a law enforcement officer, within the meaning of the Act, where (A) Rushton's appointment as a Sheriff's Deputy was never approved by the circuit court as required under § 23-13-10; (B) where Rushton admitted that he had never taken the statutory oath required of sheriff's deputies prior to the commencement of their duties and where the State failed to present any evidence that a bond or surety was on file with the McCormick County Clerk of Court as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 23-13-20; and (C) Rushton was not certified by the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy at the time of the incident.**

#### **Introduction**

In the early hours of November 15, 2009, the darkest night of the month, Defendant used a rifle to shoot and injure Robert Rushton, who was on a the property of Appellant's mother in conjunction with two McCormick County Sheriff's deputies, Nick Moore and Sara McAllister, who were investigating a report of shots being fired earlier that night. R. 33, ll. 1-11. Appellant's bullet struck Ruston's gun, destroying it, and caused significant injury to Rushton's hand.

#### **Immunity Hearing Held Pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act**

On May 31, 2011 and June 1, 2011, Judge Keesley presided over an immunity hearing held pursuant to the "Protections of Persons and Property Act". S.C. Code § 16-11-401, *et seq.* At the hearing it was established that the property owned by Appellant's mother where this tragic incident occurred is on Lake Thurmond in a rural section of McCormick County.

The 911 call concerning the gun shots was placed by Alan Sheffield, the next door neighbor, at the behest of his wife. This was the first time that Sheffield had requested the police address the night shooting. Sheffield claimed that he had filed a complaint with local law enforcement on a prior occasion, but there is no evidence that this complaint was ever communicated to Appellant. R. 148, l. 18 – 155, l. 7.

At the immunity hearing, Sheffield conceded that he often heard gunshots in the area, including at times when Appellant was not present, and that Appellant would frequently shoot a gun late at night. *Id.* Sheffield further admitted that, while he had asked Appellant's mother to speak with Appellant about the late night disturbances, he was uncertain if she did. *Id.*

Sheffield acknowledged that the Worley family cat, Sweet Pea, had been injured by a fox some months before the shooting. *Id.* On the night of the incident, Sheffield never attempted to notify Appellant or his mother that he had called the police. *Id.* While accounts differ, the call to 911 occurred sometime between 3:30 a.m. and 4:00 a.m. Rushton was first notified of the call sometime after 4:00 a.m. *Id.* at p. 30, l. 9 – 38, l. 22.

At 4:27 a.m., Moore reported to dispatch that he, Deputy McAllister and Rushton were still looking for the Worley residence. *Id.*; see also R. 203, l. 8 – 209, l. 15. Rushton stated at the hearing that it was so dark, both Moore and McAllister accidentally drove past the Worley residence's driveway and, instead, stopped at the Sheffield residence. *Id.*

Likewise, Sheffield would testify that, even though he and his wife were expecting law enforcement to arrive and had their windows open; they were surprised when the deputies' and Rushton's cars finally pulled up. **Neither Rushton, nor the deputies activated their blue lights or sirens.** R. 87, l. 2 – 92, l. 25.

Neither of the deputies nor law enforcement dispatch nor Rushton attempted to contact Appellant's residence to advise them of their impending 4:30 a.m. arrival. *Id.* Rushton, who had only been rehired by the McCormick County Sheriff's Department on November 1, 2009, after a four year stint as private security contractor for DynCorp in Iraq, was wearing "military style" pants and a dark green collar shirt with no embroidered badge or other police markings on it. *Id.* at p. 8, l. 25 – 14, l. 16).

At the time of the incident, Rushton had not completed the re-certification classes required by the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy. *Id.*; see also R. 1145, l. 5 – 1148, l. 17. While Rushton had completed a firearms recertification class, the McCormick County Sheriff's Department failed to transmit his employment information to the Criminal Justice Academy within the three working day statutory time limit that would have allowed Rushton to have the authority of a certified police officer while he waited to be certified by the Academy. *Id.*; see also S.C. Code Ann. § 23-23-43.

Rushton did not remember taking an oath to the South Carolina Constitution, although a written one was later produced with his signature on it. R. 232 – 235. However, he did not recall ever having taken the second, statutory oath specifically required of Sheriff's deputies prior to assuming their duties. R. 8, l. 25 – 14, l. 16. Nor did he know if there was a bond or surety on file with the McCormick County Clerk of Court. Finally, he did not recall ever having his appointment approved by a resident judge of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit. *Id.*

He had not been issued McCormick County's standard deputy uniform. Despite having them in his car, he was not wearing any reflective items such as a vest, a hat or a jacket that would identify him as law enforcement. *Id.* at p. 21, l. 13 – 25, l. 9. His badge was in a holder attached to his belt. Rushton parked his car behind a vehicle in Appellant's driveway. He then walked over to the Sheffields' house and spoke briefly with them. *Id.* at p. 92, ll. 11-12; p. 41, l. 1 – 44, l. 21.

Deputies Moore and McAllister approached the Worley residence, under a covered porch, knocked on the door and rang the doorbell. *Id.* The ground level door that the deputies knocked on, and where the doorbell is located, is the only entrance to the house. *Id.* The Worley residence, built by Appellant's father a career engineer at the Savannah River Site, was described

as a kind of garage with an apartment on top of it. The house is made out of concrete blocks and is heavily insulated. *Id.* at p. 213, l. 4 – 214, l. 9.

There is no window or peephole on the door. There are no windows on the side of the ground floor that the door is on. The only windows on the same side of the house as the door are located on the second story in front of a balcony. There is sliding glass door that leads on the balcony. The windows and the sliding glass door are oriented towards the lake; facing away from where the deputies and Rushton parked their cars. These windows are double planed glass. In front of the windows and the sliding glass door is a balcony that extends out to the edge of the lower story and blocks a view of the ground level door from inside the house. *Id.*

Consistent with Appellant's reconstructed testimony, Deputies McAllister and Moore testified that they rang the Worley residence's doorbell and knocked on the ground level door repeatedly, all while purportedly identifying themselves as Sheriff's deputies. After receiving no response from inside the residence, McAllister and Moore walked around to the back of residence, away from the lake and were getting ready to leave, when the flood lights, which face the lake, briefly came on and off. Moore and McAllister then returned to the front door and began ringing the doorbell and knocking on the door. *Id.* at p. 40, l. 3 – 53, l. 9.

Rushton would testify that, when the flood light came on and then off, he stopped talking with the Sheffields and started walking towards the Worley residence. *Id.* at p. 162, ll. 6-25. He estimated that he talked to the Sheffield's for roughly three minutes. *Id.* at p. 43, l. 4 – 46, l. 14. Rushton walked one hundred thirty seven feet from the Sheffield's to the front door of the Worley residence. *Id.*

*Rushton's and Deputies McAllister and Moore's Testimony*

From this point, Appellant's account and the accounts of Rushton and the deputies begin to diverge. Rushton and the deputies claimed that – despite McAllister and Moore having previously knocked, rang the doorbell, and purportedly identified themselves as law enforcement without response – someone from inside the residence finally responded on this second attempt, asking “who is it?” *Id.* at p. 58, l. 7 – 59, l. 12. Deputy McAlister did not recall hearing any response from the house. *Id.* at 196, l. 16 – 202, l. 25.

Rushton and the deputies alleged that when they stated that they were the Sheriff's Department, someone inside the house responded, “I don't give a fuck.” Rushton claimed that, after receiving this response, he heard the sliding glass door on the porch above them open. He decided to walk backwards, out from under the cover of the front door and into the yard so as to see who was stepping onto the balcony. As he walked backwards through the dark, he drew his gun. *Id.*

Next, Rushton claimed that he saw Appellant – through the near total darkness of a moonless night – step out from the doorway with a rifle in “the port position”, pointing upward – not aimed at anyone. *Id.* Rushton admitted that Appellant did not point his gun at anyone until after the flood lights turned on and revealed that Rushton was already pointing his gun at Appellant. Rushton further conceded that Appellant never threatened to shoot anyone. *Id.*

Rushton averred that he was blinded by the flood lights coming back on. Deputy Moore would claim that a final call of “Sheriff's office” and “gun!” were made, after which Appellant immediately fired. It was undisputed that the shooting happened almost contemporaneous with Appellant opening the door and turning on the flood light. Rushton recalled that “it just happened so fast right then.” *Id.*; *see also Id.* at p. 63, ll. 1-22.

Evidence presented at the hearing regarding the angle of trajectory and damage to Rushton's weapon and hand confirmed that his pistol was aimed at Appellant when Rushton was struck.

The force of the bullet's impact with Rushton's hand and gun knocked him to the ground. Despite being armed with a semi-automatic rifle capable of firing multiple rounds without reloading, Appellant did not immediately fire again. *Id.* at p. 46, l. 18 - 66, l. 6.

Instead, Rushton was able to crawl or run towards Deputy Moore, who was standing under the balcony of the Worley Residence by the front door. Appellant then fired a second time, but did not hit anything. Deputy Moore then helped Rushton flee towards McAllister's patrol car. McAllister who had been standing near the side of the Worley residence had run to her car after Rushton was shot. She made an "officer down" and "shots fired" call at 4:31 a.m., less than three minutes after the deputies and Rushton arrived.

As Rushton and Deputy Moore ran towards Deputy McAllister's waiting car, they claimed that Appellant shouted "where you at you sonofabitch?" or words to that effect. However, there were no additional shots after the first two and Rushton and the deputies were able to drive away.

#### *Appellant's Reconstructed Testimony*

Appellant's stated – based on a reconstruction of his testimony – that he had fired at a fox earlier in the night because he did not want the fox to attack Sweet Pea, the Worley family cat, again. R. 1854 - 1858. Appellant said that after the last time he fired at the fox he went to bed. He next awoke to the doorbell repeatedly ringing. *Id.*

He recalled that there had been attempted burglaries at the Worley residence before and other houses in the neighborhood had also been burglarized. Appellant decided not go downstairs to answer the door because there was no peephole or window near the entrance. Appellant did not turn on any lights. *Id.* at p. 8 – 12.

Instead, Appellant walked to the sliding glass door leading on to the balcony. Looking out, he could not see any blue lights or car lights. The night was almost totally black. When the

doorbell ringing continued, he decided to get dressed and load his father's old rifle. Appellant then returned to the sliding glass door and opened it. As he opened the door and prepared to step out on to the balcony, he turned on the flood lights and saw a burglar with a gun a "dinky flashlight". *Id.*

With respect to the shooting, in its reconstruction report, the trial court concluded that:

[E]vents happened rather instantaneously once [Appellant] opened the sliding glass door and stepped outside with the rifle. The court accepted that the evidence indicates that . . . Rushton spun out from underneath the deck area with his gun drawn, point it at [Appellant] on the elevated deck, and [Appellant] fired the first shot immediately upon seeing . . . Rushton with the gun drawn.

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