STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM MCCORMICK COUNTY
William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge (Immunity Hearing)
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge (Trial)

Appellate Case No. 2014-001497

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

JOE ROSS WORLEY,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

S.R. HUBBARD, III
Solicitor, Eleventh Judicial Circuit

205 E. Main Street, 3rd Floor
Lexington, South Carolina 29072
(803) 785-8352

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The lower court properly denied Appellant's motion for immunity from prosecution upon rejecting his claim that Deputy Rushton should not be considered a "law enforcement officer" under the terms of the Act due to his non-compliance with several statutory requirements regarding the qualification of deputy sheriffs because: (1) the ruling was supported by principles of statutory construction; (2) the specific terms of the Act do not require an officer to be "duly qualified" to be considered a "law enforcement officer" for purposes of the exception to a finding of immunity; (3) even if not duly qualified, Deputy Rushton was acting as a de facto officer; and (4) dismissal of criminal charges is not an appropriate remedy for a non-Constitutional violation.

Appellant argues the trial court committed an error of law by ruling he was not entitled to immunity from prosecution under the Act on the grounds that Rushton was a "law enforcement officer" within the meaning of the Act because: (1) Rushton's appointment as a deputy was never approved by a circuit court judge as required under § 23-13-10; (2) Rushton admitted he had never taken the statutory oath required of sheriff's deputies prior to the commencement of their duties and the State failed to present evidence of a bond or surety being on file with the clerk of court as required by § 23-13-20; and (3) Rushton was not certified by the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy at the time of the incident. The State disagrees and submits Appellant's arguments in this regard should be denied and dismissed for a host of reasons.

Findings not Necessary to the Ultimate Conclusion

First and foremost, this Court should decline to engage in any consideration or discussion of Appellant's myriad grounds for claiming Deputy Rushton was not a "law enforcement officer" within the meaning of the Act because the lower court's findings in this regard served merely as an additional sustaining ground to the overall denial of immunity, and that denial was solidly grounded in credibility findings and Appellant's abject failure to carry his burden of

proving the required elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence. Indeed, the trial judge held: “Even if there is some problem in considering Deputy Rushton as a law enforcement officer because of a technical condition he had not fulfilled, the Act does not preclude prosecution. The defendant has not established that he had a reasonable belief that he was not firing upon law enforcement officers.” (R. p.1767). In other words, the lower court concluded Appellant failed to establish he actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury because a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would not have entertained the same belief. See State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 371 n.4, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 n.4 (2013) (listing the four elements required by law to establish a case of self-defense). Similarly, the lower court found “that the preponderance of the evidence is that the ‘difficulty’ was brought on by [Appellant’s] conduct.” (R. p.1774). These individual findings supported the lower court’s ultimate conclusion that “Appellant has not met his burden of proof” in establishing the elements of self-defense needed for a grant of pretrial immunity. (R. p.1773-p.1774). This ultimate conclusion is discussed in more detail in Argument II below, but for purposes of Appellant’s complaints about Deputy Rushton and his lack of statutory qualification, it serves to exonerate the viability of those complaints. If this Court disagrees and chooses to engage Appellant’s claims, the State submits the lower court’s overall rejection of those complaints was proper for several reasons.

Standard of Review

This Court reviews the trial court's pretrial determination of immunity for an abuse of discretion. Curry, 406 S.C. at 370, 752 S.E.2d at 266. In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012); State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). The appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but, instead, simply determines whether the trial judge's ruling is supported by any evidence. Wilson, 345 S.C. at 6, 545 S.E.2d at 829; see also State v. Gracely, 399 S.C. 363, 371, 731 S.E.2d 880, 885 (2012) ("The trial court will only be reversed when there is no evidence to support the ruling below."). "[T]he trial court's ruling will not be disturbed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." State v. Sheldon, 344 S.C. 340, 342, 543 S.E.2d 585, 585-86 (Ct. App. 2001). An abuse of discretion occurs only when the trial court's conclusions lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. State v. Elders, 386 S.C. 474, 480, 688 S.E.2d 857, 861 (Ct. App. 2010); see also Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 684, 511 S.E.2d 396, 400 (Ct. App. 1999) ("In appeals of pretrial rulings, this Court is 'bound by fact findings in response to motions preliminary to trial when the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by error of law.'" (quoting State v. Amerson, 311 S.C. 316, 320, 428 S.E.2d 871, 873 (1993))).

The Protection of Persons and Property Act

A claim of immunity under the Act must be determined pretrial and the defendant has the burden of proving entitlement to immunity by a preponderance of the evidence. State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 709 S.E.2d 662 (2011). The Act provides that:

A person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law is justified in using deadly force and is

immune from criminal prosecution and civil action for the use of deadly force, unless the person against whom deadly force was used is a law enforcement officer acting in the performance of his official duties and he identifies himself in accordance with applicable law or the person using deadly force knows or reasonably should have known that the person is a law enforcement officer.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450 (Supp. 2009) (emphasis added). Thus, in the same provision the Act both creates immunity and carves out an exception so that immunity may be completely barred when the person against whom deadly force was used is a “law enforcement officer” and certain other circumstances are present. Our supreme court has further held that, consistent with the Castle Doctrine and the text of the Act, a valid case of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant’s entitlement to the Act’s immunity. Curry, 406 S.C. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266. This includes each element of self-defense, save the duty to retreat. Id. at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 266-67 (“[I]mmunity is predicated on an accused demonstrating the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court by the preponderance of the evidence.”). One of the three remaining elements of self-defense is the requirement that the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger. Id.

The Act creates a presumption that a person has proven this element of self-defense if certain conditions are met. It provides in part:

(A) person is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to himself or another person when using deadly force that is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person if the person:

(1) against whom the deadly force is used is in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering, or has unlawfully and forcibly entered a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle . . . and

(2) who uses deadly force knows or has reason to believe that an unlawful and forcible entry or unlawful and forcible act is occurring or has occurred.

(B) The presumption provided in subsection (A) does not apply if the person:

....

(4) against whom the deadly force is used is a law enforcement officer who enters or attempts to enter a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle in the performance of his official duties, and he identifies himself in accordance with applicable law or the person using force knows or reasonably should have known that the person entering or attempting to enter is a law enforcement officer.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440 (Supp. 2009) (emphasis added). Thus, in addition to the overall bar in section 16-11-450, the Act also eliminates the presumption of reasonable fear of imminent peril when the person against whom deadly force was used is a “law enforcement officer.”⁴ In the immunity hearing Appellant’s argument hinged on his contention that Deputy Rushton was not a “law enforcement officer” for purposes of the Act at the time of the incident, and therefore Appellant should not have been subject to the exception to immunity in section 16-11-450 or the exception to the statutory presumption in section 16-11-440. The State disagrees and contends that regardless of whether Deputy Rushton complied with every technical statutory requirement to become “duly qualified,” the lower court properly found he was a “law enforcement officer” for purposes of the Act.

Statutory Construction

The lower court’s overall rejection of Appellant’s claims was well-reasoned, supported by the evidence, and supported by established principles of statutory construction. Judge Keesley examined the specific statutes raised by Appellant in the context of the overall purpose and language of the Act to conclude that despite any technical statutory failures regarding circuit

⁴ It is unclear what purpose is served by the narrow section 16-11-440(B) exception to the statutory presumption when an officer is entering or attempting to enter a residence, where the broader language in section 16-11-450 completely bars immunity from prosecution for any action taken in the performance of the officer’s official duties.

court approval, oaths, or bonds, Deputy Rushton was a “law enforcement officer” for purposes of the Act.⁵ The court found: “The General Assembly recognized that exceptions [to the Act] had to be made for law enforcement personnel . . . [and] did not intend for the protections and restrictions related to using deadly force against law enforcement officers to be subject to the strict, technical evaluations argued by the defendant.” (R. p.1766).

The elementary and cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature. Branch v. City of Myrtle Beach, 340 S.C. 405, 409, 532 S.E.2d 289, 292 (2000); State v. Prince, 335 S.C. 466, 472, 517 S.E.2d 229, 232 (Ct. App. 1999). A law must be interpreted reasonably and practically, consistent with the purpose and policy of the General Assembly. Prince, 335 S.C. at 472, 517 S.E.2d at 232; Hay v. S.C. Tax Comm’n, 273 S.C. 269, 273, 255 S.E.2d 837, 840 (1979). The purpose of enactment always takes precedence over the language employed, and a court will not read into a statute something that is not within the manifest intention of the General Assembly. Abell v. Bell, 229 S.C. 1, 4, 91 S.E.2d 548, 549 (1956); Laird v. Nationwide Ins. Co., 243 S.C. 388, 395, 134 S.E.2d 206, 209 (1964). The Courts are permitted to look to existing circumstances at the time of enactment. Gaffney v. Mallory, 186 S.C. 337, 195 S.E. 840, 845 (1938). Moreover, the meaning of a statute is not to be deemed to depend upon a single part or an isolated sentence. DeLoach v. Scheper, 188 S.C. 21, 198 S.E. 409, 414 (1938). Legislative intent must always be gathered from the statute as a whole, read in light of all circumstances. Crescent Mfg. Co. v. S.C. Tax Comm’n, 129 S.C. 490, 124 S.E. 761, 765 (1924). An absurd result not possibly intended by the Legislature will be rejected. Miller v. Aiken, 364 S.C. 303, 307, 613 S.E.2d 364, 366 (2005); Hamm v. S.C. Pub.

⁵ Judge Keesley did not rule on Appellant’s claim on appeal that Rushton was not certified by the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy at the time of the incident because that argument was not specifically raised at the immunity hearing. Consequently, it is not preserved for appellate review. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003).

Serv. Comm'n, 287 S.C. 180, 182, 336 S.E.2d 470, 470 (1985). Thus, the true guide to statutory construction is not the phraseology of an isolated section or provision, but the language of the statute as a whole considered in light of its manifest purpose. City of Columbia v. Niagara Fire Ins. Co., 249 S.C. 388, 391, 154 S.E.2d 674, 676 (1967). Every technical rule as to construction of a statute is subservient to and must yield to the expression of the will of the legislature, since all rules of statutory construction have for their sole object the discovery of the legislative intent and are valuable only insofar as in their application they aid the interpreters in their endeavor to ascertain that intent. Id.

Here, Judge Keesley thoughtfully considered and construed the different statutes regarding the appointment and qualification of deputy sheriffs in the context of the legislative intent behind the Act and concluded the result sought by Appellant would be absurd. The plain language of the Act does not impose technical qualification requirements on who is considered a “law enforcement officer” for purposes of determining immunity. The lower court’s conclusion was reasonable, practical, and consistent with the purpose and policy of the Act. It was not controlled by an error of law; therefore, the denial of immunity, and Appellant’s convictions, should be affirmed.

Terms of the Act

Additionally, the lower court’s overall rejection of Appellant’s claims was proper where those claims were premised on the statutory requirements for a deputy to become “duly qualified,” but the actual terms of the Act do not use the phrase “duly qualified” or otherwise equate a “law enforcement officer” with a “duly qualified” deputy sheriff.

In regard to the appointment of deputies, the South Carolina Code provides:

The sheriff may appoint one or more deputies to be approved by the judge of the circuit court or any circuit judge presiding therein. Such appointment shall

be evidenced by a certificate thereof, signed by the sheriff, and shall continue during his pleasure. The sheriff shall in all cases be answerable for neglect of duty or misconduct in office of any deputy.

S.C. Code Ann. § 23-13-10 (2007). In regard to those deputies becoming “duly qualified” after appointment it then provides:

Each deputy sheriff shall, before entering upon the discharge of his duty, enter into bond in the sum of one thousand dollars, with sufficient surety, to be approved by the sheriff of the county, conditioned for the faithful performance of his duties and for the payment to the county and to any person of all such damages as they or any of them may sustain by reason of his malfeasance in office or abuse of his discretion. He shall, in addition to the oath of office now prescribed by Section 26, of Article III, of the Constitution, take the following oath (or affirmation) to wit: “I further solemnly swear (or affirm) that during my term of office as county deputy, I will study the act prescribing my duties, will be alert and vigilant to enforce the criminal laws of the State and to detect and bring to punishment every violator of them, will conduct myself at all times with due consideration to all persons and will not be influenced in any matter on account of personal bias or prejudice. So help me, God.” The form of such bond shall be approved by the county attorney and, with the oaths, shall be filed with and kept by the clerk of court for the county.

A blanket bond may be used in any county to fulfill the bond requirement of this section upon approval of the County Council and the County Attorney.

S.C. Code Ann. § 23-13-20 (2007) (emphasis added).

The Code goes on to explain: “When duly qualified a deputy sheriff may perform any and all of the duties appertaining to the office of his principal.” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-13-50 (2007) (emphasis added). By comparison, the terms of the very next statute do not require a sheriff’s deputy to be “duly qualified” to exercise the power of arrest. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-13-60 (2007). Thus, where the Legislature intended a particular duty to be valid only for a “duly qualified” deputy, it explicitly said so. As in the statute about the power to arrest, the phrase “duly qualified” is conspicuously absent from the Act, which instead simply used the broad term “law enforcement officer.” The State submits that by failing to specifically tie a deputy’s statutory qualifications to his being considered a “law enforcement officer” under the Act, the

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